

THE MODERATOR'S RULES AND REGULATIONS GOVERNING WAYLAND'S TOWN MEETINGS

The following information may help you to participate fully in Wayland's town meetings, which have been held each year since 1639:

I. THE WARRANT

This booklet, which includes the Warrant for Wayland's Town Meeting, was compiled by the Selectmen and served upon all residents by mail and by posting in accordance with applicable provisions of the Code of the Town of Wayland. It contains the agenda of the subjects to be acted upon (articles), including the omnibus budget proposed (if this is an annual meeting), the report and recommendations of the Finance Committee, and additional information concerning the finances and administration of the Town to help us formulate our votes.

No action of this Town Meeting will be valid unless it shall have been taken under an article set forth in the Warrant.

Each article will be considered in the order in which it appears on the Warrant, unless the meeting shall have voted to do otherwise by a TWO-THIRDS vote.

II. THE VOTERS

A. All residents of Wayland, who have been duly registered as voters, are urged to attend, participate, debate and vote at all annual and special town meetings subject to laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, the Bylaws of the Town and these rules and regulations.

B. The Town Administrator, Assistant Town Administrator, Town Counsel, Police Chief, Fire Chief, Finance Director, Director of Public Works, Public Buildings Director and Superintendent of Schools, shall have the right to attend and sit on the floor of town meetings, but they shall not be considered in determining the presence of a quorum unless they are registered voters of the Town. [See paragraph IV.B.3 below.](#)

C. All other persons, including members of the press, may attend and observe Wayland's town meetings so long as they remain seated in the special section reserved for non-residents, unless the Moderator shall have authorized them to sit among the registered voters. ~~And see paragraph IV.B.3 below.~~

D. A registered voter may bring his or her child(ren) to sit among the voters so long as the child(ren) sit(s) quietly beside his or her parent at all times.

III. THE MODERATOR

The Moderator is elected by ballot for a three year term at the annual election of town officers to preside at all Town meetings during his or her term of office and is authorized by state law to regulate the proceedings, decide all questions of order and make public [announcement or](#) declaration of all votes, subject to the Bylaws that Wayland has enacted to regulate the proceedings of town meetings. All rulings of the Moderator are final.

IV. THE MEETING

A. The Call to Order

1. The Moderator will call each session of town meeting to order at 7:30 p.m., or other time as determined by the Board of Selectmen, or as soon thereafter as the Town Clerk has determined that a quorum of one hundred (100) registered voters has been checked into the hall.

2. The Moderator will announce the number of each article about to be considered and invite a motion thereunder; the Moderator will omit the reading of the articles, unless a MAJORITY of the meeting shall vote otherwise.

B. To Address the Town Meeting

1. No person may address a town meeting until and unless he or she shall have been recognized by the Moderator. All persons shall, at the request of the Moderator, be silent.

2. All persons, who wish to be recognized, shall approach one of the three microphones placed at the front of the room, which most closely reflects the purpose for which they seek recognition:

- a. The Procedural Microphone (in the middle) will be available to those who have been recognized by the Moderator and wish to offer:
 - 1) The main motion under the article being considered and a presentation in support thereof;
 - 2) The principal presentation in opposition to the main motion. See paragraph IV.C.2.b, below;
 - 3) An amendment to a main motion;
 - 4) A question seeking information concerning the motion or other matter then under discussion, or guidance from the Moderator as to procedure, including a point of order;
 - 5) An answer to a question seeking information; and
 - 6) A point of order or procedural motion, such as:
 - a) a motion to terminate debate;
 - b) a motion challenging the Moderator's declaration of a vote;
 - c) a motion questioning the presence of a quorum; and
 - d) a motion to adjourn.
- b. The "Pro" Microphone will be available to those persons recognized by the Moderator who wish to speak in support of a motion on the floor.
- c. The "Con" Microphone will be available to those persons recognized by the Moderator who wish to speak in opposition to a motion on the floor.

The Moderator will normally recognize those persons, who are standing behind or seated near each microphone in a single file, in the order of their entry into that file, alternating between the Pro and the Con mikes; but reserves the right to recognize any person at any time, including a person who has not approached a mike, a person who is handicapped or a person who has risen to a point of order. Any person whose remarks are not consistent with the purpose of the microphone that he has been permitted to use, shall yield the floor upon request of the Moderator.

3. Those individuals granted the right to sit on the floor under Section II B above, if non-residents, shall have the right to answer questions, but they do not have the right to vote unless they are registered voters of the Town.

4. If a person, who has not registered to vote, seeks permission to address the meeting, the Moderator will ask whether there are any objections. If there are any, he will immediately call for a vote. If the majority shall vote to hear the non-resident, the Moderator will give him/her the floor.

C. The Debate

1. When you have been recognized by the Moderator, address the Chair as follows: “Mr. Moderator, I am (Name) of (Street Address).” Then proceed as follows:

- a. “I move that . . .”;
- b. “May I ask you . . .”; or
“May I ask through you (then state the question which you want a board, official, or previous speaker to answer);
- c. “I rise to a point of order”; or

2. Once you have been recognized, you may offer any motion, amendment, argument, comment, suggestion or question relevant to the article then under consideration, unless the Moderator shall have authorized debate or invited comments upon subjects not listed in the Warrant; but:

- a. Any person who wishes to offer the principal presentation in support of the main motion under an article, must so notify the Moderator prior to the session at which that article is called and complete the same within seven (7) minutes, or less, and yield the floor. A light will warn you to conclude your remarks and yield the floor during the final minute. The Moderator may divide the time if more than one person indicates a desire to make a presentation in support. The aforesaid seven minute limit does not apply to the principal motions under the omnibus budget article.
- b. Any person wishing to offer a presentation in opposition to the main motion under an article must so notify the Moderator prior to the session at which that article is called and complete the same within the time used by the proponent, or within three (3) minutes, whichever is longer, and yield the floor. The same one (1) minute warning light will warn you to conclude your remarks.

The Moderator may divide the time if more than one person indicates a desire to make a presentation in opposition.

- c. All other persons who wish to address the Town Meeting shall, when recognized, complete their remarks in two (2) minutes, or less, unless extended by leave of the Moderator and yield the floor. The same one (1) minute warning light will be turned on when you have used up the first minute.
- d. You may be interrupted only by a question of privilege, a point of order, a request that you speak more distinctly or by the Moderator.
- e. When you have completed your motion, question, or remarks, you relinquish your claim to the floor; and you must yield the floor upon request of the Moderator.
- f. The Moderator will rule, or take other appropriate action on any generally recognized incidental, subsidiary or privileged motion.

3. Abbreviated Presentation Procedure. With notice to and leave of the Moderator any person making a main motion under an article may present that motion under the Abbreviated Presentation Procedure. Under this procedure:

- a. The motion must be presented in or be substantially consistent with the words of the Article as printed in the Warrant, and without making further presentation in support of that article. The Moderator may allow minor or editorial variation from the words of the Article as printed in the Warrant.
- b. The Moderator will ask if anyone wishes to speak in opposition to the motion or if anyone has a question regarding the motion.
- c. Should there be a question, the questioner will be permitted to state his or her question and the presenter of the motion will be permitted to answer that question.
- d. Should any individual state that he or she is opposed to the motion, or if the Moderator determines that the questions are of significant depth or importance, the presentation and debate will ~~continue in~~ revert to the normal course as set forth in these Rules.

4. If you have a question concerning the legality or propriety of the proceedings, you may approach the Procedural Microphone and address the Moderator without waiting to be recognized, saying: "Mr. Moderator, I rise to a point of order." When you have been recognized, you must state the reason for your point, which may include that a motion is beyond the scope of the article under consideration, that the person who has the floor is not addressing the merits of the motion or that a quorum is not present. The Moderator will then rule on the point and ~~his~~ the ~~ruling~~ Moderator's ruling is final.

5. If you wish to offer a motion within the scope of the article under consideration, follow the procedure outlined under paragraph IV. B. and C., above.

- a. If your motion is the main motion, you must then declare that it is identical word-for-word with the substantive portion of the article printed in the warrant which is then under consideration, or describe ~~all of~~ the substantive differences in wording between the article and the motion; otherwise the Moderator will permit no debate or action upon your motion. If your main motion is visually available to a reasonable extent throughout the hall, you may dispense with the description of substantive differences, unless directed to do so by the Moderator.
- b. If you plan to offer a main motion that contains more than twenty-five (25) words and differs significantly from the article printed in the Warrant such that in the view of the Moderator, the assembly may be confused, you must first print and distribute a copy thereof to those attending the session of town meeting at which said motion is presented.
- c. No motion or amendment of a motion that exceeds ten (10) words in length will be accepted, unless it shall have been offered to the Moderator in writing.
- d. A motion that is not identical word-for-word with the substantive portion of the article printed in the warrant then under consideration will not be accepted, unless the Moderator shall determine that said motion is within the scope of the article; i.e., that it does not change the substantial character of the proposal described in that article or would not further restrict, if passed, the liberties of the residents of Wayland than the proposal set forth in the article.
- e. The Moderator will accept no motion proposing a layout, taking, acceptance of gift, purchase, sale, lease or rezoning of land, unless the article under which the motion is offered contains a running description of the land in question, a description by metes and bounds or a reference to a plan suitable for recording that is available for public inspection at the office of the Town Clerk, the Town Surveyor, the Planning Board or another place to which the public has access during normal business hours.
- f. The Moderator will accept no motion to appropriate and/or expend a sum of money, which exceeds the estimated cost set forth in the article then under consideration by fifteen (15%) percent, except for motions under the omnibus budget article and motions under a supplementary budget article that contemplates the appropriation of additional money for the current fiscal year to augment moneys previously appropriated and proposes to fund such appropriations by transfer from unappropriated funds, funds appropriated for another purpose or from funds received by the

Town as grants or gifts.

- g. The Moderator will accept no motion that in the Moderator's view would eviscerate or be completely opposite of the motion under the Article under consideration.
- h. The Moderator may rule on your motion, even if no one has risen to challenge that motion by way of a point of order.

6. You will not be recognized to speak on the merits of a motion if you have already spoken three times on its merits, but you may be recognized to answer a question put by another or to raise a procedural issue with respect to that motion.

7. Wayland's practice with respect to some common subsidiary motions is generally as follows:

- a. You may amend a motion by moving to add and/or delete words to and/or from the main motion or by substituting a new motion therefor; but the Moderator permits no more than two amendments to a main motion *at a time*. A motion to amend is debatable and requires only a MAJORITY vote, even though the main motion may require a TWO-THIRDS vote.
- b. You may move to refer a matter for further study, if your motion identifies the official or committee who shall conduct such study, how it shall report, when and to whom. In the event that you wish to establish a new committee for this purpose, the motion must specify the number of members who shall serve and who shall appoint them. A motion to refer is debatable and may be amended and requires a MAJORITY vote.
- c. You may move to advance or postpone to a time certain within the then current session of the meeting consideration of an article listed in the Warrant. Such a motion is debatable, may be amended and requires a TWO-THIRDS vote.
- d. You may move to lay an article on the table ("table"). Such a motion is NOT debatable or amendable and requires a TWO-THIRDS vote. A motion to remove such article from the table is also NOT debatable or amendable and requires a TWO-THIRDS vote.

You may ask the Meeting to take no action under an article by moving "that the article be passed over." Such a motion may be deemed a substitute for the main motion, is debatable, may not be amended, requires a MAJORITY vote and serves to dispose of the article under consideration.

8. Upon the expiration of forty-five (45) minutes after the main motion under any article shall have been seconded, or put before the meeting by the Moderator, unless extended by leave of the Moderator, the Moderator will terminate debate thereon, unless the Town

Meeting shall have voted by majority vote to extend the time available for further debate. The time needed to count the vote(s) upon the motion(s) under the article will not be included in the total time. The aforesaid time limit does not apply to debate under the omnibus budget article.

9. Although the Moderator has absolute authority to regulate the proceedings at town meetings, debate under a motion can be terminated by a TWO-THIRDS vote of the Town Meeting. Therefore, if you believe that debate under a motion has gone on long enough, approach the Procedural Microphone, and, when you have been recognized, make a motion to terminate debate (move the previous question). If your motion receives a second, ~~the Moderator~~ the Moderator may, but need not, defer the termination of debate for a reasonable time to permit both sides of the issue to be heard. If a motion to terminate debate carries by a TWO-THIRDS vote, the Moderator will put the previous motion under consideration to a vote without further debate; but if said motion does not carry by a TWO-THIRDS vote, the Moderator will permit debate to continue.

10. If an article of the Warrant has been acted upon and disposed of, a motion to reconsider the article may be made at any time if the Moderator determines that the person offering the motion discloses significant new information to the Town Meeting concerning said article, which existed but had not been disclosed or made available to the Meeting when the motion under that article was debated, and the Moderator thereupon explains why such information satisfies the foregoing criteria; provided however, the debate and action on said motion shall be deferred until all other articles have been disposed of. In any event, a two-thirds vote shall be required for approval of a motion to return to an article.

D. The Vote

Before calling for a vote, the Moderator will usually repeat the motion under consideration (as the same may have been amended), unless it is substantially identical to the article:

1. In the event that electronic handset voting equipment shall have been made available for use by voters at any Annual or Special Town Meeting, all votes shall be taken by secret ballot using such equipment, unless the Moderator shall decide otherwise for reasons he/she shall state publicly. When calling for an electronic vote, the Moderator will ask voters to press the number "1" if they wish to register an "aye" or the number "2" if they wish to vote "no". In the event that a voter wishes to abstain, he or she may (but need not) press "3". Voters may change their mind as many times as they wish, but the last vote recorded upon the expiration of thirty seconds will count. Any voter who believes that his or her keypad is not functioning properly or is failing to record his or her vote accurately should proceed to the designated help desk. If a vote is in progress, the voter should raise his or her hand; if seen by the Moderator, the Moderator will dispatch help desk staff to examine the handset for any defect. If it is determined by help desk staff that the handset is defective, the voter will be offered a paper ballot and pen or other writing instrument to record his or her vote on that question and will be provided with another handset for the next vote. Such paper vote shall be promptly relayed by help desk staff to the Moderator.

- a. If a voter cannot use the electronic handset offered by the Checkers, he or she will directed to sit in a special section reserved for those who will not be using an electronic handset to vote. Whenever the Moderator shall call for a vote, tellers will provide a ballot to each voter in the special section(s), who, collect those ballots within thirty seconds and deliver them to the Moderator, who will add the total of the ballots to the vote

received electronically and ~~declare-announce~~ the vote on the motion before the meeting.

- b. Each person receiving a handset must retain and use only that handset until turned in at the Help Desk, given to a Teller or turned in at the end of the session. No person may lend or give that handset to another person, nor may any person vote with a handset originally given to another.

Voters with handsets may retain them if they wish to leave the room for any reason, but they must hand their handset to an exit attendant if they plan to leave the building.

2. In the event that electronic voting is for any reason not to be employed, the Moderator will first ask all those in favor to say, "Aye". He will then invite those opposed to say, "No". If the Moderator is in doubt as to whether the motion has carried, he or she may call for another voice vote; or may ask those in favor to stand, before he asks those opposed to stand. Sometimes, the Moderator will reverse this procedure before ~~declaring-announcing~~ the vote.

3. If the Moderator is still in doubt, or if seven (7) or more voters shall immediately question a voice or an uncounted vote taken by non-electronic means, ~~he-the Moderator~~ will call for the tellers to help him take a standing counted vote – two tellers for each section of the hall so that they may check each other's results. The Moderator will then repeat the motion and say, "All those in favor will rise and remain standing until counted." When the count has been completed, the Moderator will ask those who are opposed to stand and be counted. As soon as each team of tellers has agreed upon the count in their section, they will be asked to report the number of voters they have counted from the Procedural Microphone. When all of the tellers have reported, the Moderator will declare the vote and his declaration of the vote is final, unless clear and convincing evidence shall have been submitted to the Moderator that fraud, errors by of one or more tellers or some other irregularity has infected the accuracy of the vote count just completed; in which event the Moderator will repeat the standing counted vote procedure outlined above.

4. If a vote taken by electronic means is questioned by seven (7) or more voters, the Moderator will audit the vote by choosing a set of voters to come forward and present their handsets in turn to the Town Clerk, who will compare the vote shown on each handset with the vote received by the Electronic Voting System for that handset. If the correlation is less than fully accurate, the Moderator shall discard the electronic vote and call for a standing counted non-electronic vote under the previously set out procedures.

5. In the event that the law requires a vote of TWO-THIRDS or more to carry a motion acted on by non-electronic means the Moderator will normally ask whether there is unanimous support for the motion; but if there is not such support, he will take a standing counted vote. If the Moderator shall have perceived that more than TWO-THIRDS of the voters voted in the affirmative the Moderator may by hand vote determine that the TWO-THIRDS majority was met.

6. If a TWO-THIRDS vote is required to carry a subsidiary or procedural motion, such as a motion to terminate debate ("move the previous question"), ~~and the vote is not to be taken by electronic means~~, the Moderator need not take a count, even though the voice vote upon such motion was not unanimous, if the Moderator shall have perceived that more than TWO-THIRDS of the voters voted in the affirmative. The Moderator shall then declare that such motion has carried and the Clerk shall record such declaration together with a note that there was "a scattering of nos."

E. Adjournment

1. If you wish to adjourn a session of the Town Meeting before all of the articles have been disposed of, you must specify the date and time when the Meeting shall resume. Such motion may be made at any time, is debatable, may be amended and requires a MAJORITY vote, provided, however, that the Moderator will permit no such motion if it shall be offered after debate shall have been terminated upon a pending motion until the final declaration of the vote taken upon the motion then under consideration.

2. Each session of a Town Meeting shall be adjourned by the Moderator (a) at 10:30 p.m., or as soon thereafter as the Meeting has disposed of the article then under consideration or postponed action thereunder, or (b) voted to adjourn at a different time.

3. No motion to dissolve the Town Meeting (to adjourn *sine die*) is in order until every article shall have been duly considered, acted upon and declared as disposed of.

V. QUESTIONS

In the event that you have a question concerning the conduct of the meeting, you need further information to cast your vote, or the status of any motion being considered, you are invited to approach the Procedural Microphone and to address your question to the Moderator as soon as you have been recognized.

VI. MISCELLANEOUS RULES

Residents of the Town of Wayland may, with the prior permission of the Moderator, place and/or post documents intended and designed to inform and influence the action of voters at town meetings on the tables and wooden walls located behind and on either side of the tables occupied by the checkers at the entrance of the Field House and each other venue where town meetings are conducted, so long as said documents are germane to any of the articles set forth in the warrant.

The Selectmen, the Chief of Police and the Chief of the Fire Department and other town officers and employees may also be permitted by the Moderator to post and place documents pertaining to the safety of the public in the aforesaid locations.

Thank you for joining us to do the Town's business.

Dennis J. Berry, Moderator

~~April 2, 2017~~ March 1, 2018